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Narrative Report 
 
 
1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report presents the statutory financial statements for Birmingham City Council 

(the Council) for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.  The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2017/18 Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting (the Code) published by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

 
1.2 This narrative report provides a summary of the Council’s financial position and 

details of material items that have impacted on the accounts during the year.   
 
1.3 The financial statements contain a number of technical accounting terms and 

concepts.  A glossary of the major accounting terms has been provided at the end of 
the financial statements to help the reader’s understanding. 
 
 

2 Council Priorities 
 

2.1 The Council’s vision for the City is one of: 
 
µ$�FLW\�RI�JURZWK�ZKHUH�HYHU\�FKLOG��FLWL]HQ�DQG�SODFH�PDWWHUV¶ 
 
and sets out four key priorities for Birmingham: 
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an agreed budget to be funded from taxation, grants or from rents for council 
dwellings.   
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) position is shown in a separate statement 
within these accounts. 

 
In line with proper accounting practices under the Code the CIES incorporates 
transactions relating to: 
 

 movements in value of Property, Plant & Equipment and other non-current 
assets,    

 the impact of updates in the valuation of pension liabilities under defined 
benefit arrangements 

 changes in provisions set aside for the future, for example, for the costs of 
Equal Pay. 

 
Notwithstandiing the reduced costs of services in 2017/18, as a result of the savings 
implemented by the Council, the 2017/18 CIES shows a net improvement of £106.0m 
in moving from a deficit of £128.0m on the provision of services in 2016/17 to a deficit 
of £22.0
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 A reduction in the net liability on the defined benefit pension scheme of 
£282.8m, mainly resulting from the three year advance payment made by the 
Council in April 2017.   
 
offset by 

 An increase in the level of short term borrowing of £286.2m as the Council 
took advantage of the low level of short term interest rates.  
 

 
4.5 Cash Flow Statement – shows how the Council generates and uses cash during the 

year and the impact this has on the balances of cash and cash equivalents.  Cash 
flows are classified into operating, investing and financing activities. 
 
Supplementary Statements 
 

4.6 Notes to the Accounts – additional detail supporting the information provided in the 
main financial statements is provided in the Notes to the Accounts.   
 

4.7 Housing Revenue Account – records the financial position of the Council’s statutory 
obligation to account separately for the costs of its housing provision. 

 
4.8 Collection Fund – a statutory account that records the transactions in respect of the 

collection and distribution of Business Rates and Council Tax for which the Council 
acts as agent.   

 
Group Accounts 
 

4.9 The Council operates through a variety of undertakings, through either majority 
shareholding or sole membership of companies with the current ability to appoint the 
majority of directors (subsidiary undertakings) or in partnership with other 
organisations (associate undertakings and joint ventures).  To provide a full picture of 
the activities of the Council, Group Accounts have been prepared which include those 
organisations where the interest and level of activity is considered material.  The 
Group Accounts consolidate the Council’s accounts with those of: 
 
Subsidiaries 
Acivico Limited 
Birmingham City Propco Limited – New Company 
Innovation Birmingham Limited  
InReach (Birmingham) Limited 
National Exhibition Centre (Developments) Plc 
PETPS (Birmingham) Limited 
PETPS (Birmingham) Pension Funding Scottish Limited Partnership – New company 
 
Associates 
Birmingham Airport Holdings Limited 
Service Birmingham Limited – part year only 
 
Joint Venture 
Paradise Circus General Partner Limited  
 
 

4.10 The Council has undertaken a review of its Group boundary to ensure that the 
information provided from the consolidation of related entities into its Group Financial 
Statements gives the most accurate picture of the Council’s activities.  It has been 
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February 2018.  The level of claims received after this date to the date of signing 
these accounts was not material. 
 
 
Business Rates 
 

6.7.2 As a result of the change introduced through the Local Government Finance Act 
2012, local authorities assumed part of the liability for funding rate payers who 
successfully appeal against the rateable value of their properties on the rating list.  
This liability includes amounts that were collected in respect of both the current and 
prior years. 
 

6.7.3 
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6.8 Reserves 
 
6.8.1 The Council maintains two types of reserves: 

 

 Usable reserves – where the Council sets aside specific amounts for future 
policy purposes, to cover contingencies or where resources have been 
provided for specific purposes but have not yet been spent 

 Unusable reserves, which are not available to support the provision of services 
and include: 

 Unrealised gains and losses, particularly in relation to changes in valuation 
of non-current assets; 

 Adjustment accounts that absorb the difference between the outcome of 
applying proper accounting practices and the requirements of statutory 
arrangements for funding expenditure. 
 

 
6.8.2 Details of the reserves are set out below.   

 
 31 March 

2017 
31 March 

2018 
 

 £m £m  
Unearmarked Reserves 100.8 170.4  
Earmarked Reserves 136.2 130.9  
Grant Reserves 133.4 172.0  
Ringfenced Reserves 86.2 69.2  
Capital Reserves 373.5 427.4  

Sub-total Usable Reserves 830.1 969.9  
    

Unusable Reserves (1,903.4) (1,

2017903

903 )

)

.

)

 

 



Birmingham City Council                                                          Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

 

16 
 

7 Future Revenue and Capital Expenditure Plans 
 
7.1 The Council Plan and Budget 2018+ was set in the context of pressures on services 

arising from demographic changes and increasing and changing needs whilst facing 
reducing resources available to fund service provision and investment in assets as a 
result of the continuing reductions in grant funding as part of the government’s policy 
of reducing public expenditure.  The Council has historically been more dependent on 
government grants than many local authorities because of the higher levels of need in 
the City and because of the comparatively low tax base which constrains what can be 
raised locally through Council Tax.     
 

7.2 The Council has recognised the need for the effective management of savings 
programmes and has implemented a clear process for decision-making and 
monitoring delivery.  There is active engagement by both Members and senior 
officers, including monthly meetings co-chaired by the Deputy Leader and Chief 
Executive as well as formal revenue budget monitoring reports considered by 
Cabinet. 
 

7.3 The Council’s key capital priorities are addressed through the four-year capital 
programme, totalling £1,250m in the Council Plan and Budget 2018+. The Council 
continues to pursue major initiatives taking advantage of the availability of external 
capital resources, with the programme including £390m of Government grants and 
other external contributions. The programme also incorporates borrowing proposals 
set out in the approved Enterprise Zone Investment Plan, the cost of which will be 
supported from projected Business Rates growth in the Enterprise Zone area. 
 

7.4 The Council agreed to forego its Revenue Support Grant from 1 March 2017 in 
exchange for retaining 99% of Business Rates (the remaining 1% will continue to be 
passed to the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority) as part of a 100% Business 
Rates Retention Pilot across the seven West Midlands District Authorities.  The top 
up grant that the Council receives has also been reduced in order to ensure fiscal 
neutrality in terms of the Local Government Finance Settlement.  The Government 
has confirmed that the 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot will continue in 2018/19 
in its current form.  There are opportunities to enhance/expand the arrangement in 
future years if all parties are in favour. 
 

7.5 Full details of the 2018/19 Revenue and Capital Budgets can be found within the 
Council Plan and Budget 2018+ approved by Council on 27 February 2018, via the 
Council’s website. 
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Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 
7KH�&RXQFLO¶V�Responsibilities 
 
The Council is required to: 
 

 make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In 
Birmingham City Council this is the Corporate Director, Finance & Governance  who 
also has the role of Section 151 officer; 

 manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 

 approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Section 151 OffiFHU¶V�5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV 
 
The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). In preparing this 
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
taxation.  Figures for 2016/17 have been restated to reflect the change in Directorate 
structure.  Details of the restatement are set out in Note 8. 
 
 

2016/17 
(Restated) 
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Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This Statement shows the movement in the year in the different reserves held by the 
Council, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (that is, those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves.  The detail for 2016/17 has been 
restated to reflect the impairment of HRA assets that was allocated against General Fund 
Balances.  Details of the prior period adjustment are set out in Note 8. 
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Balance Sheet 
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that is, in the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior 
period adjustment. 
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Service cost comprising: 

o current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 
earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the Directorates for which the employees worked; 

o past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year 
decisions whose effect related to years of service earned in earlier years – 
allocated to Directorates in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement; 

o net interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset), that is the net interest 
expense for the Council – 
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vii. Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but 
which does not result in the creation of a non-current asset, has been charged as 
expenditure to the relevant Directorate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year. Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment 
Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of 
Council Tax. 
 
 
viii. Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Directorates and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost 
of holding non-current assets during the year: 
 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 

 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 
accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be 
written off; 

 Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service. 
 
The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution 
from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount 
calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Council in accordance with statutory 
guidance. An adjustment is, therefore, made to remove depreciation, amortisation and 
revaluation and impairment losses from the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account  
through Note 16, Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulations, and the Movement in Reserves Statement and to replace them by the statutory 
contribution from the General Fund or Housing Revenue Account Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
 
ix. Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council when there is reasonable 
assurance that: 
 

 the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments; and 

 the grants or contributions will be received. 
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution are 
considered more likely than not to be satisfied in the future.  Conditions are stipulations that 
specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the 
form of the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, 
or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions are unlikely to be satisfied 
are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. Where conditions are satisfied or expected to 
be satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant Directorate (attributable 
revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring 
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fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account as they are applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
 
x. Overheads and Support Services 
 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to Directorates in accordance with 
the Council’s arrangements for accountability and performance.  
 
 
xi. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected 
to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to 
deliver future economic benefits or service potential (for example, repairs and maintenance) 
is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
 
Measurement 
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 
 

 the purchase price; 

 any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

 
The Council capitalises borrowing costs incurred whilst material assets are under 
construction.  Material assets are considered to be those where total planned (multi-year) 
borrowing for a single asset (including land and building components) exceeds £20m, and 
where there is a ‘substantial period of time’ from the first capital expenditure financed from 
borrowing until the asset is ready to be brought into use. A substantial period of time is 
considered to mean in excess of two years.  Both of these tests will be determined using 
estimated figures at the time of preparing the accounts in the first year of capitalisation.  
Should either test fail in subsequent financial years, the prior year’s treatment will not be 
adjusted retrospectively. 
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 
acquisition does not have commercial substance (that is, it will not lead to a variation in the 
cash flows of the Council). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, 
the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Council. 
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Since 1 April 2010 all additions and all material assets revalued (over £5m) are accounted 
for on a component basis. As components are added, any component being replaced is 
derecognised. On derecognising components where the component is within a non 
separated component bundle, the depreciation is apportioned on a straight line basis and 
derecognised accordingly.  In addition, where the historical cost of the old component is not 
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Where decreases in value are identified, the accounting treatment is: 
 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance; 

 where there is insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down 
firstly against the Revaluation Reserve and the remaining amount against the 
relevant Directorate line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the 
date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into 
the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairment 
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end for any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
Where indications exist and any possible difference is estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
 
Where impairment losses are identified, the accounting treatment is: 
 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance; 

 where there is insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down 
firstly against the Revaluation Reserve and the remaining amount against the 
relevant Directorate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant 
Directorate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of 
the original loss, adjusted for the depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had 
not been recognised. 
 
Useful Life 
 
The Council estimates that assets, at new, have remaining useful lives within the parameters 
as detailed below:   

 Council Dwellings – separated into the key components 
o Land – indefinite life; 
o Kitchens – 20 years; 
o Bathrooms – 40 years; 
o Doors/Windows/Rainwater, Soffits and Facias – 35 years; 
o Central Heating/Boilers – 15 to 30 years; 
o Roofs – 25 to 60 years; 
o Remaining components (Host) – 30 to 60 years; 

 Buildings –
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Where a school is proposing to transfer to Academy School Trust status after the year end, 
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is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve.  Receipts are appropriated to the 
Reserve from the General Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
 
 
xii. Heritage Assets 
 
Heritage assets are assets that have historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geographical 
or environmental qualities that are held in trust for future generations because of their 
cultural, environmental or historical associations and contribution to knowledge and culture. 
They include museums’ and libraries’ heritage collections, historic buildings and the 
historical environment, public works of art and civic regalia and plate.  
 
Where assets of a heritage nature are used in the ongoing delivery of the Council’s services, 
such as historically interesting buildings and parks and open space, they have not been 
categorised as heritage assets but remain as other land and buildings or as community 
assets within Property, Plant and Equipment.  
 
Where historical cost information is available, the Council has used this when compiling the 
balance sheet; otherwise insurance valuations have been used, where applicable. Where 
there is evidence of a movement in valuation as a result of material acquisitions or disposals, 
or a significant movement in comparable market values, a revaluation will be considered.  In 
some cases, reliable valuation information is not available due to a lack of comparable 
market data and the diverse nature of the individual items, and where the historical cost 
information cannot be obtained, the asset has been excluded from the balance sheet.  
 
The Council is the custodian of a number of scheduled monuments, including burial mounds 
and archaeological remains, and owns a significant number of public art works, including 
statues, sculpture and fountains. With some minor exceptions, historical cost information is 
not available; for the majority, there is no insurance valuation available and the Council does 
not consider that reliable information can be obtained at a cost that is commensurate with 
the benefits to users of the financial statements. Consequently the Council does not 
recognise these assets in the balance sheet. 
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therefore, carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is 







Birmingham City Council                                                          Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

 

38 
 

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is 
not permitted by statute to impact the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as 
a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General 
Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is settled by the payment of 
rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-
current assets is ful
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Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into two types: 
 

 Loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not 
quoted in an active market; 

 Available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not 
have fixed or determinable payments. 

 
Loans and Receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair 
value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans the 
Council has made, this means the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable, plus accrued interest, and intere
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xx. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents are represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial 
institutions, which must be repayable immediately without penalty. Any deposits with 
financial institutions that may be repaid after the immediate day are considered to be 
investments, not cash equivalents. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand, where there are pooling arrangements across the accounts 
with the same institution, and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
 
 
xxi. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions 
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Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation that will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that 
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Note 2 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Council has had to make certain 
judgements in respect of complex transactions or those transactions involving uncertainty 
about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 
Going Concern 
Local Authorities are required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
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The Council acting as Agent 

The Council acts as agent for a range of funding resources.  In its role as agent, transactions 
relating to agency activity are not included in the Council’s financial statements.  Two of the 
largest schemes where the Council acts as agent are: 
 

 Growing Places Fund   

 Regional Growth Fund - Advanced Manufacturing Supply Chain Initiative  
 
These resources are under the control of the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local 
Enterprise Partnership with decisions taken by impartial and independent Investment Boards 
and Committees.  All governance processes are overseen by the Council. 
Whilst the Council has received the funding, it is on the basis of an Accountable Body to 
ensure that resources are spent in compliance with the grant offer letters. Decisions in 
respect of the use of funds are not in the hands of the Council.  The Council can only obtain 
use of the resources as a recipient of the normal resource allocation process. 
 
Given the basis of control, the Council has determined that it acts as agent rather than 
principal for these resources which are, therefore, not included in the Council’s financial 
statements. 
 
Details of the Council’s role as agent for external resources are included in Note 49 to these 
financial statements. 
 
 
Early Payment to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
The Council made a payment of £373.2m on 30 April 2017 to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme being the estimated sum due for the three year period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 
2020 in respect of employer contributions.  The Council has determined that the application 
of section 30 of The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003, as amended, requires the Council to charge to its revenue accounts the 
amount payable for the financial year for retirement benefit payments and contributions to 
the pension fund as set out in the actuary’s certificate following the triennial valuation of 31 
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Note 3 
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 
 
 



Birmingham City Council                                                          
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Note 4  
Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty 
 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made 
by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking 
into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  However, 
because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates. 
 
The items in the Council's Balance Sheet at 31 March 2018 for which there is a significant 
risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 
Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

Assumptions 

Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment 
Valuations 

Valuations are undertaken on the basis 
of a five year rolling programme, which 
is supplemented by annual reviews to 
reflect significant changes in market 
values.  HRA assets are subject to a 
full revaluation every five years, 
following MHCLG guidance, with a 
desktop review in the intervening 
years. 
 
The valuation of specialist assets using 
Depreciated Replacement Cost 
includes the use of building cost 
factors. For those assets not valued in 
year, updated building factors have 
been applied to estimate carrying 
values at 31 March.   
 

For those assets not valued this year, an 
increase of 1% in the average valuation of 
assets that have not been amended for a 
variation in building indices would have 
the effect of increasing the gross carrying 
value of these assets by £10.0m, with a 
corresponding increase in the level of 
unusable reserves. 

Heritage 
Asset 
Valuations 
(Museum’s 
and Libraries’ 
Archive 
Collections) 
 

In the absence of recent transactions in 
a number of assets held in the 
Museum’s and Libraries’ Collections, 
the Council has used the associated 
insurance valuations as the most 
reasonable measure of value of the 
assets.    

If the value of the assets were to vary from 
the insurance valuations by 1%, this would 
change the carrying value of Heritage 
Assets on the Balance Sheet by £2.4m 
with a corresponding adjustment in the 
unusable reserves. 

Financial 
Instruments 

Interest rate risk - the Council is 
exposed to significant risk in relation to 
interest rate movements on its 
borrowing and investments. 

An analysis of the impact if interest rates 
were 1% higher, with all other variables 
held constant, is set out in Note 40.  
 
 

Long term 
obligations 
under, for 
example, PFI 
schemes 
 

For service concessions, the fair value 
of the long term obligations has been 
based on financial models, including 
future assumptions on inflation and 
interest rates. 

The financial models assume an inflation 
rate of 2.5% If the annual inflation rate 
was to increase to 3.5% each year of the 
contracts, this would result in an increase 
in running costs of £30.4m in 2018/19, and 
a further £353.9m over the remaining lives 
of the contracts. 
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Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 
Assumptions 

Equal Pay The Council has included a provision of 
£151.8m for the settlement of claims 
for back pay arising from the Equal Pay 
initiative.  The Council has based its 
estimate on the number of claims 
received and on historical information 
on settlement of similar claims and on 
the current negotiations with claimants’ 
representatives.   
 

An increase of 1% in the average level of 
settlement would have the effect of 
increasing the provision required by 
£1.5m. 

Business Rate 
Appeals 

An estimate of the impact of Business 
Rate appeals has been based on the 
number of claims lodged and the 
experience of levels of success in 
settlement of those claims. 
 

An increase of 1% in the average level of 
settlement would have the effect of £4.0m 
on the provision set aside. 

Defined 
Benefit 
Pension 
Liability 

The estimate for the Local Government 
Pension Scheme has been based on 
the latest actuarial valuation and 
transaction information from 2017/18. 

A number of factors can impact on the 
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Note 5 
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Transfer of Council Services 
 
On 1 April 2018, Birmingham Children’s Trust became responsible for the delivery of 
children’s care services previously delivered by the Council.  The Trust, a company limited 
by guarantee with the Council as sole member, was created on 9 May 2017.  Cabinet, in 
July 2017, approved the details for the transfer of services to the Trust, which included the 
transfer of some 1,800 staff from the Council to the Trust.  The governance of the Trust has 
been confirmed with the appointments of Andrew Christie (Chair), Andy Couldrick (Chief 
Executive) and six Non-Executive Directors. 
 
Children’s Services have been operating as a Shadow Trust within the Council to ensure a 
smooth transfer to the new model of operation in 2018/19.   
 
The contract for the first year of the Trust is £201m. 
 
 
Future Resource Allocations 
 
The Council faces reducing Government grants, reducing capital receipts and lower income 
from services.  These pose challenges to the financial resilience of the Council.  In this 
context, the Council Plan and Budget 2018+ sets out medium to long-term strategies for 
business changes and the management and development of its services.  A key focus of 
business planning has been the achievement of the Council’s priority outcomes through the 
adoption of a core set of corporate principles to inform service and organisational redesign 
where appropriate.  The Council is planning to meet its anticipated expenditure reductions 
through a number of activities, including potential staff redundancies in 2018/19.  
 
 
Sale of Innovation Birmingham 
 
Innovation Birmingham (IBL) Group is a group of companies that aims to promote, 
encourage, and secure the development and management of a science park in Birmingham.   
IBL comprises Innovation Birmingham Limited, a company limited by guarantee with the 
Council as sole member, and several subsidiary companies. 
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Note 7 
Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
This analysis provides detail of the main adjustments from the Net Expenditure Chargeable 
to the General Fund and HRA balances to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Figures for 2016/17 have been restated to reflect the change in Directorate 
structure. 

2016/17 (Restated) 

Depreciation 
reported at 
Directorate 

Level 
Reserve 

Appropriation 

Other 
Adjustments 

(Note (a)) 

Total to arrive 
at amount 

charged to the 
General Fund 

and HRA 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustment 

Other 
Adjustments 

(Note (b)) 
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Note 8 
Prior Period Restatement of Service Expenditure and Income 
 
The Council realigned its reporting structure in 2017/18.  The impairment of assets within the 
HRA was incorrectly allocated against Place Directorate in 2016/17.  The allocation had no 
impact on either General Fund or HRA balances as the impact of the impairment is reversed 
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Note 9 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis by Nature of Activity  
 
This analysis provides detail of the expenditure and income of the Council on a subjective 
basis. 
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Note 11 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure disclosed in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement is detailed below.  
 

2016/17 
 

2017/18 

Gross 
Expenditure Income Net 

 

Gross 
Expenditure Income Net 

£m £m £m 
 

£m £m £m 

181.3 - 181.3 
Interest Payable and 
similar charges 

179.2 - 179.2 

71.9 - 71.9 
Net Interest on the Net 
Defined Benefit Liability 

73.9 - 73.9 

- (12.0) (12.0) 
Interest Receivable and 
similar income 

- (12.9) (12.9) 

- - - 

Income and expenditure in 
relation to investment 
properties and changes in 
their fair value 

- (1.6) (1.6) 

29.8 (33.0) (3.2) 

(Surplus)/Deficit on trading 
operations not 
consolidated within Service 
Expenditure Analysis in 
Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

31.1 (31.7) (0.6) 

- (11.6) (11.6) 
Other investment income 
and expenditure 

- (6.1) (6.1) 

283.0 (56.6) 226.4 Total 284.2 (52.3) 231.9 

 

 
Note 12 
Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure 
 
Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure disclosed in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure statement comprises the following: 
 

2016/17 
 

2017/18 
Gross 

Expenditure Income Net 
 

Gross 
Expenditure Income Net 

£m £m £m 
 

£m £m £m 

- (289.8) (289.8) 
Council Tax Income - 
Collection Fund - (310.4) (310.4) 

- 
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Note 14 
Grant Income 
 
The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.   
 

2016/17  2017/18 

£m  £m 

 
Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income  

226.6 Revenue Support Grant - 

127.1 NNDR Top Up Grant 125.3 

21.8 New Homes Bonus Grant 15.0 

18.2 Schools PFI Grant 18.2 
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2016/17 
 

2017/18 

£m 
 

£m 

 
Capital Grants 

 
67.5 Education Funding Agency 
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Note 16 
Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations 
 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and 
expenditure recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with proper accounting 
practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 
Council to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 
 
The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 
 
General Fund Balance 
 
The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of the Council are required 
to be paid and out of which all liabilities of the Council are to be met, except to the extent 
that statutory rules might provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year 
in which liabilities and payments should impact on the General Fund Balance, which is not 
necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice.  The General Fund Balance 
therefore summarises the resources that the Council is statutorily empowered to spend on 
its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the Council is required to 
recover) at the end of the financial year.  However, the balance is not available to be applied 
to fund Housing Revenue Account (HRA) services. 
 
Housing Revenue Account Balance 
 
The HRA Balance reflects the statutory obligation to maintain a revenue account for local 
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Note 17  
Transfers To/(From) Earmarked Reserves 
 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund Balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from 
earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2017/18.   
 
 

 

Balance at  
1 April 
2016 

Transfers 
Out 

2016/17 

Transfers 
In 

2016/17 

Balance at  
31 March 

2017 

Transfers 
Out 

2017/18 

Transfers 
In 

2017/18 

Balance at  
31 March 

2018 
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Usable Reserves 

(Restated) 
Balance at 
31 March 

2017 

Transfers 
Out 

 2017/18 

Transfers  
In 

 2017/18 

Balance at 
31 March 

2018 

 

£m £m £m £m 

     Capital Reserves 
    Capital Receipts Reserve 278.3 (86.5) 128.6 320.4 

Capital Grants Unapplied 95.2 (50.4) 62.2 107.0 

Total Capital Reserves 373.5 (136.9) 190.8 427.4 

     

     
Total Usable Reserves 830.1 (343.8) 483.6 969.9 

 

 
Details of the major usable reserves are set out below. 

Unearmarked Reserves comprising: 

General Fund Balances and Carry Forward Balances- that reflect the accumulated surpluses 

of income over expenditure from previous years and any resources set aside as general 

contingency against adverse future events.  

Organisation Transition Reserve (OTR) -  to provide a contingency against delays in the 

implementation of savings, and to make funding available to assist in making changes to the 

way services are provided and in ways which will reduce costs in the long term.    

Financial Resilience Reserve (FRR) – created in 2017/18 to provide contingency funding in 

case the Council faces financial difficulties in the future.   

Earmarked Reserves comprising: 

Insurance Fund – the Council is sufficiently large to be able to self-insure against all bar the 

most catastrophic business risks.  A budget is held to cover insurance losses in-year and the 

Insurance F
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Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  – 
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2016/17 
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Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
 
The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from 
the different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to certain 
financial instruments and for bearing losses or benefiting from gains in accordance with 
statutory provisions.  The Council uses this account to manage premia paid and discounts 
received on the early redemption of loans and the recognised losses on loans advanced at 
less than a commercial interest rate.  These values are debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when they are incurred, but reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance to the Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Over time, these values are posted back to the General Fund Balance in accordance with 
statutory arrangements for spreading the burden on Council Tax.  For premia and discounts, 
this period is the unexpired term that was outstanding on the loans when they were 
redeemed.   
 
 

2016/17 
 

2017/18 

£m £m 
 

£m £m 

 
(27.8) 
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2016/17 
 

2017/18 
£m 

 
£m 

(2,087.7) Balance at 1 April (2,870.7) 

(748.0) Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 153.1 

(149.7) 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits 
debited or credited to the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement  

(259.0) 

114.7 
Employer’s pensions contributions and direct 
payments to retirees payable in the year 

140.5 

(2,870.7) Balance at 31 March (2,836.1) 
 
 
 
 
 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
 
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-
current assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take place.  Under statutory 
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Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of Council Tax and Business Rates income in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as it falls due from Council Tax and Business Rates payers 
compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund 
from the Collection Fund. 
 
 

2016/17 
 

2017/18 
£m 

 
£m 

(22.9) Balance at 1 April (10.6) 

12.3 

Amount by which Council Tax/Business Rates income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from Council Tax/Business Rates 
income calculated for the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements 

28.6 

(10.6) Balance at 31 March 18.0 
 

 
 
 
Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve 
 
The Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve contains the changes in fair value 
recognised by the Council arising from changes in the value of its investments that have 
quoted market prices or otherwise do not have fixed or determinate payments.   
 
 
 

2016/17 
 

2017/18 
£m 

 
£m 

0.2 Balance at 1 April 0.5 
0.7 Upward revaluation of investments - 

(0.4) 
Downward revaluation of investments not charged to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

(0.8) 

0.5 
 

(0.3) 

- 

Accumulated gains/(losses) on assets sold and maturing 
assets written out to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of Other Investment 
Income 

- 

0.5 Balance at 31 March (0.3) 
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The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early 
retirement outside of the terms of the NHS pension scheme. These costs are accounted for 
on a defined benefit basis and detailed in Note 21. 
 
The Council is not liable to the scheme for any other entities’ obligations under the plan. 
 
 
Note 21 
Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 
 
Participation in Pension Schemes 
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 Local Government Pension Scheme Unfunded 

Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme 

Total  Funded Unfunded 

 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Benefit Obligation at 1 
April 

5,207.6 6,793.2 77.4 69.8 68.5 64.2 5,353.4 6,927.2 
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Movements in Balances: 2016/17 
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£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Cost or Valuation 
         

At 1 April 2016 1,778.0 2,407.4 198.4 541.0 92.7 7.4 110.2 5,135.1 725.8 

Additions 95.9 60.6 6.9 38.1 0.6 - 100.1 302.2 43.6 
Assets reclassified between categories - 34.6 0.4 3.9 0.7 - (39.6) - 

 Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale - (6.8) 
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Capital Commitments 
 
At 31 March 2018, the Council has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or 
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2018/19 and future years budgeted to 
cost £1,001.
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Saxon gold and silver metalwork yet found. There are significant exhibits and artwork 
comprising the Permanent Collection on display in community museums, for example Aston 
Hall and Soho House, together with items held in storage at the Museum’s Collection 
Centre. In addition there is a collection of Boulton silverware, a set of 24 pieces in silver 
jointly owned by the Council and the Birmingham Assay Office.   
 
 
Historic Buildings and the Historical Environment 
 
The Council either owns or holds on trust in excess of 150 listed buildings and structures, 
with Grade I and Grade II properties being the most significant.  These include Aston Hall, a 
Grade I listed Jacobean manor house completed in 1635, Blakesley Hall, an Elizabethan 
timber house built by a local merchant in 1590 and Soho House, home of Birmingham 
industrialist and entrepreneur Matthew Boulton, all of which are included as Heritage Assets.  
 
 
Public Art 
 
The Council owns over 80 pieces of public art, including statues, sculpture and fountains, 
some of which are listed structures. Victoria Square fountain and the King Edward VII statue 
are included in the balance sheet as reliable information is available for these works of art.  
 
 
Libraries and Archive Collections 
 
The Library of Birmingham is unique amongst UK public libraries for the range and depth of 
the collections it houses. The library houses a large photography collection including those 
of pioneers Francis Frith and Sir Benjamin Stone. The Council also holds over 6,000 archive 
collections including major collections of national importance, such as those relating to the 
industrial innovators James Watt and Matthew Boulton. In addition there are significant 
collections of early and fine printing, incorporating over 8,000 books printed before 1701, 
and an extensive collection of literature and rare books, including Audobon's 19th Century 
work, The Birds of America, and one of the world's most comprehensive Shakespeare 
collections.   
 
 
Civic Regalia and Plate 
 
The Council owns in excess of 230 
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Note 25 
Long Term Investments 
 
Details of the Council’s long term investments are summarised below.   
 
 

31 March 2017 
 

31 March 2018 

£m 
 

£m 

26.4 
Investment in Subsidiary and 
Associated Companies 

35.8 

6.8 Available for Sale Financial Assets 5.8 

0.3 Unquoted Equity Investment at Cost 0.1 

33.5 Total 41.7 

 

 
 
Note 26 
Long Term Debtors 
 
The table below shows amounts owed to the Council that are due for payment more than 12 
months after the Balance Sheet date. These balances have been split by type of debt.   
 
 

31 March 2017 
 

31 March 2018 

£m 
 

£m 

55.0 External Loans 88.8 

0.9 Employee Loans 1.0 

0.3 
Mortgages: former Council House 
Tenants 

0.3 

36.7 Other Debtors 36.1 

92.9 Total 126.2 

 
 

 
Note 27



Birmingham City Council                                                          Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

 

98 
 

Note 28 
Assets Held for Sale 
 
The table below details the value of assets whose carrying amount will be recovered 
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Note 29 
Short Term Debtors 
 
The table below shows the amounts owed to the council at the end of the year that are due 
for payment within 12 months. The increase in debts associated with other entities and 
individuals is mainly as a result of the Council’s participation in the 100% Local Business 
Rates Retention Pilot.  Under the Pilot, the Council retains 99% of the Business Rates it 
collects rather than the 49% it retained under the previous arrangements.  As a result, the 
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Note 32 
Provisions 
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The Council, as Billing Authority, is required to make a provision for this liability on behalf of 
the major preceptors and itself.  From 1 April 2017, the Council became part of a 100% 
Local Business Rates Retention Pilot.  Under the pilot, the Council retains 99% of the 
Business Rates it collects including 99% of any amounts due to be collected in future.  The 
other 1% is retained by the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority (WMFRA).  Prior to 1 
April 2017, the Council’s share of Business Rates was 49% with 1% due to WMFRA and the 
remaining 50% being due to Central Government.  Under the pilot, the Council has assumed 
responsibility to pay for 99% of backdated appeals, including those prior to 1 April 2017. 
 
These accounts include a provision of £35.1m representing 99% of the total provision 
(2016/17: £25.8m – representing 49% of the total provision) set aside to cover the Council’s 
share of the total estimated unpaid liability relating to the settlement of all appeals received 
up to 31 March 2018.  The remaining 1% share of the liability is attributable to the WMFRA. 
 
The Council has assessed the likely cost of settling appeals, based upon the history of 
appeals settled to date and details of those appeals that are still outstanding.  The 
information used in this modelling has been provided by the Valuations Office Agency 
(VOA).    
 
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government issued regulations allowing 
Local Authorities to spread the impact of accounting for their share of the backdated element 
of the appeals provision, based on the assessment made in 2013/14, up to a maximum of 
five years.  The Council has opted to use this regulatory mitigation to spread the impact of 
the liability.  2017/18 is the final year. 
 
 
Pensions Guarantees 
 
The Council has, over a number of years, changed its way of operating from being one of a 
direct provider of a number of services to one where it purchases services from third parties.  
As part of this change in service delivery model, the Council has transferred staff from the 
Council to external providers under Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006 (TUPE).  The Council has agreed that staff transferring to an external 
provider should continue to hav
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Equal Pay Legal Costs 
 
The Council has set aside a provision for legal costs associated with the handling or 
defending of Equal Pay claims. The provision will be used when legal fees are agreed for 
each case and may be subject to assessment; the timing of which is uncertain.  It is 
anticipated that this provision will be utilised fully by 31 March 2019. 
 
Sleep-In Allowance 
 
The Council, like other care providers/ commissioners, has a risk of potential back pay 
liability as a result of developments in the legal system in relation to sleep-in shifts. The 
Mencap vs Tomlinson-Blake EAT ruling found that care providers must pay the National 
Minimum Wage throughout a sleep-in shift rather than the fixed allowance that is currently 
paid. The current case law is complex, and currently subject to appeal. The Council has set 
aside a provision in its 2017/18 accounts of £1.1m in respect of potential payments relating 
to sleep-in allowances. 
 
The Carbon Reduction Commitment 
 
In 2018/19 the Council will have to purchase allowances as a result of mandatory 
participation in the Government’s Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency scheme 
(CRCEES). The quantity of allowances that will be purchased is dependent on the amount of 
energy used in properties that the Council occupied in 2017/18. In line with the 
recommended treatment by CIPFA, a provision for this cost has been made in the 2017/18 
accounts based on the estimated energy consumed in 2017/18. 
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6. The Council enters into a number of arrangements with external partners for the 
delivery of services or as part of infrastructure developments within the city.  There 
are occasions where the Council faces claims from external partners where it is 
believed that specific outcomes have not been delivered.  Currently the validity of any 
outstanding claims is being assessed. 
 
 

7. The Council received insurance services from Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI).  
Due to financial difficulties, MMI ceased trading in October 1993 and entered into a 
solvent run off.  MMI entered into a Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors, 
namely the Councils which were owed claim settlements.  The Scheme of 
Arrangement stated that MMI would be able to claw back any claim settlements paid 
on behalf of its creditors after 1 October 1993 if a solvent run off was not likely to be 
achieved.   
 
Following a decision of the Supreme Court in March 2012 regarding Employers’ 
Liability Policy Trigger Litigation, MMI’s liability in respect of asbestos related claims 
has increased substantially.  As a result, the Scheme of Arrangement was enacted in 
2016/17 and an Administrator was appointed.   
 
At present, the Administrator has announced a levy of 25% on claims paid since 1 
October 1993 and the Council has incurred costs of £0.7m to cover its share together 
with a share, based on population, of the claims paid in respect of the former West 
Midlands County Council.  The maximum remaining liability faced by the Council, 
less the payments already made, is £2.3m. 
 
 

8. In the delivery of services, the Council may transfer staff to external organisations 
rather than directly deliver those services itself.  As part of the staff transfer 
arrangements, continued access to the Local Government Pension Scheme may still 
be permitted.  Where these arrangements exist, the Council has given guarantees in 
respect of pension liabilities to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  Where the 
Council has an expectation that there will be a call on the guarantee, provision has 
been made as detailed in Note 32.  However, there may be further calls on 
guarantees which will need to be considered in the future.     
 
 

9. The Council, as with other care providers/commissioners, has an increased risk of 
potential back pay liability as a result of outcomes from Employment Tribunals in 
relation to sleep-in shifts.  In the Employment Appeal Tribunal of Mencap vs 
Tomlinson-Blake, the judgement was that care providers must pay the National 
Minimum Wage throughout a sleep-in shift rather than a fixed allowance as is 
currently the case.  The current case law is complex and is subject to appeal.  It is, 
therefore, not possible to quantify fully 
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Given the current status of these discussions and their sensitivity, the Council does 
not consider that further disclosure would be in its best interests at this time.   
 
 

2. When disposing of non-current assets which may be the subject of further 
development by the purchaser, the Council may include clauses within the disposal 
agreement that require the purchaser to make additional payments to the Council 
depending on the outcome of the development.  The Council has included such 
clauses in the agreement for the disposal of a number of developments and 
anticipates generating additional capital receipts in future years.   
 
Due to the commercially sensitive nature of the agreements, detailed information on 
further anticipated receipts has not been disclosed.  
 
 

 
Note 34 
Council Borrowing 
 
A breakdown of the Council’s borrowings is summarised below: 
 
 

2016/17  2017/18  
Long Term Short Term  Long Term Short Term 





Birmingham City Council
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Financial Assets 

Input level 
in Fair 
Value 
Hierarchy 

Valuation inputs and 
assumptions used to 
measure Fair Value 

31 March 2017 31 March 2018 

Carrying 
Amount 

£m 

Fair 
 Value  

£m 

Carrying 
Amount 

£m 

Fair 
 Value 

 £m 
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Note 40 
Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments 
 
The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of risks relating to its financial instruments, 
including: 
 

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the 
Council; 

 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council may not have funds available to meet 
its payment commitments; 

 Market risk – the possibility of financial loss due to changes in interest rates and 
market prices. 

 
These risks are mainly managed by a central Treasury Management Team in accordance 
with policies and approvals set by the Council in its annual Budget Report, Treasury 
Management Strategy, and Treasury Management Practices in particular.  The Council 
complies with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services 
and the Prudential Code for 
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No significant changes have been made in banking regulations in the past 12 months, since 
the EU and UK ‘bail-in’ rules were introduced in 2015/16.  Consequently, no risk categories 
have been added or amended. 
 
The Council will not invest more than £600m in long term investments as follows: 
 

 
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Market Risk 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Council is exposed to significant risk in relation to interest rate movements on its 
borrowing and investments.   
 
Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council. For instance, a rise in 
interest rates would have the following effects: 
 

 Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Surplus/(Deficit) 
on the Provision of Services will rise 

 Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities for borrowings will fall 

 Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus/(Deficit) on 
the Provision of Services will rise 

 Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall. 
 
Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate 
borrowings would not impact on the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of Services or 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. However, changes in interest payable and 
receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus/(Deficit)  
on the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements in the fair 
value of fixed rate investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 
 
These risks are measured and managed in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy, including the setting and monitoring of risk limits on the level of 
variable rate instruments and on the amount of borrowing maturing in future years. 
 
At 31 March 2018, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, 
the financial effect would be: 

 
      £m 

Increase in interest payable on variable rate borrowings 5.5 
Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments (0.9) 

Impact on Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of Services 4.6 

Share of overall impact charged to the HRA 0.9 
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate investment assets 2.2 

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings liabilities (no 
impact on the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of Services 
or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure) 

(540.5) 
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Note 41 
Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
The Council's capital expenditure on an accruals basis, analysed between types of asset, is 
summarised below.  This also includes revenue expenditure funded from capital under 
statute.   
 

 
31 March 2017 31 March 2018 

 
£m £m 

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 4,523.2 4,568.8 

   Capital Investment 
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Note 42 
Leases 
 
The Council has a significant number of leases, as summarised below. 
 
Council as the lessee 
 
Finance leases 
The Council has acquired a number of buildings and other assets under finance leases.  The 
assets acquired under these leases are carried in the Balance Sheet at the following net 
amounts.    
 

31 March 
2017 

 31 March 
2018 

 

£m  £m  
20.0 Other Land and Buildings 19.6  
3.1 Vehicles, Plant Furniture & Equipment 2.7  

23.1 Total 22.3  
 
The Council is committed to making minimum payments under these leases comprising 
settlement of the long-term liability for the interest in the property acquired by the Council 
and finance costs that will be payable by the Council in future years while the liability 
remains outstanding.  The minimum lease payments are made up of the following amounts:
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Birmingham City Council
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£ £ £ £ £ 

J Tew, Assistant Chief Executive
(10)

 
2016/17 - - - - - 

2017/18 28,441 - - 4,351 32,792 

Assistant Chief Executive
(11)

 
2016/17 83,446 - - 11,182 94,628 

2017/18 23,336 - - 3,570 26,906 
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Other Council employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding 
employer’s pension contributions) were paid the amounts detailed in the table below.  
However, staff within Voluntary Aided and Foundation schools are employed by the 
governing body of the school and have therefore been excluded from the table below.  
 

2016/17   2017/18 
Teaching 

Staff & Staff 
in Schools 

Other 
Council 

Employees 

Total Remuneration band Teaching 
Staff & Staff 
in Schools 

Other 
Council 

Employees 

Total 

No No No  No No No 
160 242 402 £50,000 - £54,999 158 291 449 
103 62 165 £55,000 - £59,999 107 85 192 
61 61 122 £60,000 - £64,999 67 55 122 
63 67 130 £65,000 - £69,999 41 48 89 
31 13 44 £70,000 - £74,999 42 46 88 
15 13 28 £75,000 - £79,999 16 8 24 
11 6 17 £80,000 - £84,999 15 13 28 

7 12 19 £85,000 - £89,999 5 12 17 
7 10 17 £90,000 - £94,999 3 9 12 
5 6 11 £95,000 - £99,999 6 5 11 
2 2 4 £100,000 - £104,999 1 8 9 
1 1 2 £105,000 - £109,999 1 3 4 
- - -  
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Note 46 
Exit Packages 
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Note 48 
Related Parties 
 
The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled or 
influenced by the Council. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the 
extent to which the Council might have been constrained in its ability to operate 
independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain 
freely with the Council.  
 
 
Central Government 
Central Government has effective control over the general operations of the Council – it is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates, 
provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of 
the transactions that the Council has with other parties (for example, Council Tax bills, 
Business Rates, Housing Benefits). Grants received from Government departments are set 
out in Note 14. Grant receipts outstanding at 31 March 2018 are included in the balances 
within Note 29. 
 
 
Members 
Members of the Council have direct control over the Council's financial and operational 
policies. The total of Members' allowances paid in 2017/18 is shown in Note 44.   
 
 
Officers 
There were no transactions between Senior Officers of the Council and the Council and its 
related parties, other than the receipt of emoluments due as employees of the Council and 
payments of Council Tax due as appropriate. 
 
 
Greater Birmingham and Solihull Business Rates Pooling Arrangement 
 
The Greater Birmingham and Solihull Business Rates Pool (the Pool) was designated by the 
Secretary of State in accordance with paragraph 34 of Schedule 7B to the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 as a pool of authorities for the purposes of the scheme for 
the local retention of business rates under schedule 7B to the Act. 
 
The Council entered into a pooled budget arrangement in 2013/14 with seven other local 
authorities including acting as intermediary between the authorities and government in 
respect of top-up/tariff payments, as detailed in the table below, following the introduction of 
the Business Rates Retention Scheme. This arrangement has continued in 2017/18. The 
objective of the Pool is to adopt a strategic approach to promoting growth and job creation 
that supports the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership’s Strategy 
for Growth, which includes: 

o economic development;  
o core funding; or 
o a combination of both.  

 
The funding provided to the pooled budget includes tariff payments that would otherwise 
have been paid to the Government.  The expenditure met from the budget paid to the 
Council includes an element of its top-up payments that it would otherwise have received 
from the Government.  The table below, which has been restated for 2016/17 to include the 
residual top-up from Central Government, summarises the financial activity for the year.   
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 2016/17 

(Restated) 
2017/18 

 £m £m 
Funding provided to the pooled budget   
Birmingham City Council 
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 2016/17 
 

2017/18 

 £m £m £m £m 
Funding provided to the pooled budget     
      



Birmingham City Council                                                          







Birmingham City Council                                                          
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Accountable Body Role 
 
The Council acts as accountable body for a number of external activities, including the 
Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership (the LEP), Local Enterprise 
Zones and the England Illegal Money Lending Team. 
 
The Council records and reports the financial activities of the bodies for which it is 
accountable and may receive directly the funds allocated to the activities and incur 
expenditure as directed by the external party.  The Council may also receive funds in its own 
right from the arrangement to support eligible projects, which will form part of the Council’s 
financial statements. 
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Subsidiary Companies 
 
Following the disposal of the Council’s interests in NEC Group Limited, NEC (Developments) 
Plc has a minimal number of transactions going through it in respect of its loan stock.  The 
company is consolidated into the Council’s Group Accounts.   The Council provided 
guarantees to the Trustees of the Fund and the Scheme to meet the current and future 
funding obligations that may arise in respect of the liabilities.  In 2017/18, the Council has set 
up an arrangement through PETPS (Birmingham) Capital, PETPS (Birmingham) General 
Partner Limited and their joint partnership, PETPS (Birmingham) Pension Funding Scottish 
Limited Partnership that will enable the Council to spread the implications of the guarantee 
across the anticipated deficit recovery period. 
 
Other 
 
The Council provides accountancy support to:  

 a number of National and Regional bodies, collecting contributions and making 
payments on their behalf 

 receiving and making payments in respect of service users who require support in 
managing their resources.  
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Note 50  
Trust Funds 
 
The Council administers a number of trust funds which have been established from 
donations and bequests made to it to meet a variety of objectives and purposes.  The total 
funds held at 31 March 2018 was £28.8m (2016/17: £28.6m).  In addition, the Council held 
£2.1m (2016/17: £3.2m) of Adult Services Clients' Funds.  The trust funds and clients' funds 
do not represent assets of the Council and have not been included in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet.  The major trust funds are detailed below. 
 

 Balance at 
31 March 
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Analysis of the assets of the main funds: 
 

 Restricted 
Funds at  
31 March  

2018 

Unrestricted 
Funds at  
31 March  

2018 
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
2017/18  
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HRA share of the operating income and 
expenditure included in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement: 

  

52.6  Interest payable and similar charges  51.3 

0.5  Amortisation of premia and discounts  0.4 

(0.3)  HRA interest and investment income  (0.5) 
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H4. Major Repairs Reserve 
 
A transfer is made to the Major Repairs Reserve each year of a value equivalent to the 
amount charged to the HRA for depreciation of dwellings based on the componentised 
valuation of the dwellings and individual component residual lives, to make provision for 
ongoing elemental renewal over the longer term. 
 
The main movements on the Major Repairs Reserve are set out below 
 

2016/17    2017/18 

£m    £m 

5.8 Balance on Major Repairs Reserve at 1 April 39.0 

47.5 
Amount transferred to Major Repairs Reserve during the 
year 

50.3 

(14.3) 
Charge to the Major Repairs Reserve during the financial 
year in respect of capital expenditure on the land, houses 
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H7. Contribution from Pension Reserve 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement includes pension costs calculated 
in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 as described in detail in Note 
21 to the Financial Statements.  To ensure that these costs do not affect the level of HRA 
balances and Council House rents, an appropriation is made from the Pensions Reserve so 
that the movement in balances only reflects the actual employer’s pension contribution.   
 
 
H8. Rent Arrears 
 
Rent arrears from current tenants at 31 March 2018 totalled £12.9m (2016/17: £12.3m).  
Other arrears including Housing Benefit overpayments, leaseholder major works and 
miscellaneous services totalled £23.4m at 31 March 2018 (2016/17: £22.5m). 
 
A provision for bad debts has been made to meet possible future write offs of rent and other 
services/leaseholder/benefit overpayments.  The provision was £31.4m at 31 March 2018 
(2016/17: £29.8m) and has been calculated based on value/aged analysis in accordance 
with Government guidelines. 
 
 

31 March 2017  31 March 2018 

 £m      £m 

12.3 Current tenants 12.9 

13.2 Housing benefit overpayment 13.8 

9.3 Other debt (services/leaseholders) 9.6 

34.8 Total arrears 36.3 

   

29.8 Provision for bad debts 31.4 

 
 

  

H9. Supervision and Management  
 
The Council has recognised that an element of the settlements being agreed in respect of 
equal pay claims relate to employees whose employment costs fell on the HRA. Therefore 
the HRA has been charged its share of the Council’s overall Equal Pay liability based on the 
current estimate of claims.  The charge to the HRA relates solely to claims relating to 
activities correctly charged to the HRA, and amounts to a charge of £0.9m in 2017/18 
(2016/17: £0.7m). These amounts also include £2.9m that has been set aside in a provision 
for future years’ payments.  Statutory arrangements allow the change in provision to be 
reversed back to an Equal Pay Back Pay Account. The remaining balance on the Equal Pay 
Back Pay Account will be debited back to the HRA through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement in future financial years as payments are made. 
 
 
H10. Restatement of 2016/17 accounts 
 
A restatement of the 2016/17 accounts has been made to the Housing Revenue Account 
Income and Expenditure Account to correctly account for the impairment to the carrying 
value of HRA dwellings as at 31 March 2017, previously incorrectly allocated against 
General Fund balances. This adjustment has had no impact on the value of HRA or General 
Fund balances carried forward for use in 2017/18 and subsequent years. The impacts of this 
restatement are as follows: 
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 Original Total 

2016/17 
£m 

Change 
 

£m 

Revised Total 
2016/17 

£m 
    
Total Income (289.8) - (289.8) 
    
Expenditure    
 Depreciation & Impairment 47.5 77.1 124.6 
 Other Expenditure 145.7 - 145.7 

Total Expenditure 193.2 77.1 270.3 
    
Net Expenditure/(Income) of HRA 
Services as included in the whole 
authority Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and Net 
Cost/(Income) of HRA Services 

(96.6) 77.1 (19.5) 

    
HRA Share of the operating income 
and expenditure included in the 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

54.7 - 54.7 

    

(Surplus)/Deficit for the Year on HRA 
Services 

(41.9) 77.1 35.2 

    
Movement on the Housing Revenue 
Account Statement 

   

    

(Surplus)/Deficit for the year on the 
HRA Income and Expenditure 
Account 

(41.9) 77.1 35.2 

    
Adjustments between accounting basis 
and funding basis under statute 

40.6 (77.1) (36.5) 

Net (increase)/decrease before 
transfers to / (from) reserves 

(1.3) - (1.3) 

    
Transfers to / (from) reserves 1.2 - 1.2 

(Increase) / decrease for the year on 
HRA balance 

(0.1) - (0.1) 

    
HRA Balance Brought Forward (4.6) - (4.6) 

HRA Balance Carried Forward (4.7) - (4.7) 
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Notes to the Collection Fund 
C1. Contributions from Council Tax Payers 
 
The Council's tax base at January 2017 
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The figures for Sutton Coldfield Town Council are: 
 

Band Number of 
Properties 

Ratio Band D 
equivalent 
dwellings 

 

AR 1 5/9 1  
A 1,645 6/9 1,097  
B 3,906 7/9 3,038  
C 6,118 8/9 5,438  
D 8,308 1 8,308  
E 7,851 11/9 9,596  
F 3,841 13/9 5,548  
G 2,438 15/9 4,063  
H



Birmingham City Council                                                          Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

 

150 
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2.2 The Council has taken two companies out of the Group Accounts as it is judged that 
the Council does not have the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
companies, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 
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develop, manage and lease commercial properties.  The company has purchased the 
leasehold interests of the Council in respect of the Crowne Plaza NEC and Hilton 
Metropole NEC hotels. 
 

3.3 Following a review of the Council’s group boundary it has been determined that 
Birmingham Museums Trust Limited and Performances Birmingham Limited should 
no longer be consolidated in the Group Accounts.  The Council has determined that 
the current control of the relevant activities of the companies lie with the Trustees and 
Directors of the companies.  The Council only has a reserved right to appoint a 
minority of Trustees or Directors to the Company Boards and therefore control is not 
considered to lie with the Council.    Whilst the Council is currently sole member of 
both companies, it would require a special resolution to change the operation of the 
companies and this may result in adverse financial implications on their operation.  If 
the companies were to be dissolved then the Council cannot receive any assets as a 
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Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
This statement shows the income and expenditure recognised by the Group during the 
reporting period.  Discontinued operations relate to Innovation Birmingham which is treated 
as Assets Held for Sale.  The activity for 2016/17 has been restated to reflect the removal of 
Birmingham Museums Trust Limited and Performances Birmingham Limited from the 
Council’s group boundary and the amendments to the Council entity financial statements.  
Details are set out in Note G3 and G5 to these Group Financial Statements. 
 
 

2016/17 
(Restated) 

  
2017/18 
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£m £m £m Continuing Operations 
 £m £m £m 

529.9 (203.4) 326.5 Adult Social Care & Health  554.9 (207.4) 347.5 
1,065.6 (843.1) 222.5 Children & Young People  1,111.4 (800.9) 310.5 

214.5 (78.5) 136.0 Place  264.3 (86.5) 177.8 
156.1 (86.4) 69.7 Economy  155.2 (90.8) 64.4 
621.9 (585.9) 36.0 
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 
 
Note G1 
Accounting Policies 
 
The Group 
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Note G2 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In addition to the Critical Judgements, set out in Note 2 of the entity accounts, the Council 
has considered the following judgement in respect of the application of its accounting 
policies. 
 
The Council has created a number of companies that are limited by guarantee and which are 
also charitable companies.  In such cases the Council is sole member on creation of the 
company. 
 
The Trustees of a charity have the responsibility for determining the policies and the 
activities of the company in line with the specific remit of the charity.  In the cases of 
Birmingham Museums Trust Limited and Performances Birmingham Limited, the Council 
has, through the Articles of Association, the right to appoint a minority of Directors or 
Trustees to sit on the company board.  In each case the number of Council Directors or 
Trustees appointed is in the minority of Board members such that they have less than 20% 
of voting rights.  Trustees of charities must act in the best interest of the charity and not in 
the interests of the body that appointed them. 
 
The Council is sole member of both organisations and whilst it may pass resolutions to 
impact on the operation of the companies, to date it has not done so.  There are also 
financial barriers to the Council exercising any form of control as this may jeopardise the 
charitable nature of the organisations which would lead to financial detriment. 
 
On the basis of the above factors, the Council considers that it does not have the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities of the companies given its minority level of 
representation, the Trustees must act independently of the Council in the best interest of the 
charity and should the Council exercise any rights through its role as sole member, it is 
considered that this would have an adverse financial impact. Therefore, the Council does not 
consider that Birmingham M



Birmingham City Council



Birmingham City Council                                                          Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

 

163 
 

 

O
ri

g
in

a
l 
G

C
IE

S
 i
n

 

2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 

E
n

ti
ty

 D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 

R
e

a
lig

n
m

e
n

t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 

E
lim

in
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
B

M
T

 

a
n

d
 P

B
L
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

o
f 

D
is

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e

d
 

O
p

e
ra

ti
o
n

s
 

R
e

s
ta

te
d

 f
o

r 

G
C

IE
S

 2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

Gross Income £m £m £m £m £m 

Continuing Operations 

     People (1,046.5) 1,046.5 
  

- 

Adult Social Care & Health 
 

(203.4) 
  

(203.4) 

Children & Young People 
 

(843.1) 
  

(843.1) 

Place  (98.1) 
 

19.6 
 

(78.5) 

Economy (54.0) (37.6) 
 

5.2 (86.4) 

Corporate Resources (631.6) 631.6 
  

- 

Strategic Services 
 

(585.9) 
  

(585.9) 

Finance & Governance 
 

(8.1)
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Balance Sheet Prior Period Adjustments 
 

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017 
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£m £m £m 

Property, Plant and Equipment  5,368.0 (12.7) 5,355.3 
Heritage Assets 251.5 - 251.5 
Investment Property 9.8 - 9.8 
Intangible Assets 19.7 - 19.7 
Long Term Investments 5.1 - 5.1 
Long Term Debtors 74.1 0.9 
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Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2016 
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Group Movement in Reserves Statement Prior Period Adjustment 
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Amendment to Group Cash Flow Statement Prior Period Adjustment 
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Service Birmingham 
 
The gain on disposal of the discontinued operations was determined as follows: 
 

  2017/18  
  £m  

Consideration Received  11.1 
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Note G7 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Details of the Group Property, Plant and Equipment are set out below.  The detail for 
2016/17 has been restated to reflect the elimination of Birmingham Museums Trust Limited 
and Performances Birmingham Limited from the Group Accounts.  Details of the adjustment 
are set out in Note G3.  
 
Movements in Balances: 2017/18 
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Note G8 
Financial Instruments 
 
This note sets out the differences from the information contained in Note 39 of the Council 
entity accounts to enable the reader to determine, more clearly, the impact of group 
company transactions. 
 
Debtors and Cash 
Debtors and cash consolidated as part of the Group Financial Statements are classified as 
loans and receivables.  Further information on Group debtors is provided in Note G9. 
 
Creditors 
Short term creditors consolidated as part of the Group Financial Statements are classified as 
financial liabilities at amortised cost.  Further information on Group creditors is provided in 
Note G10. 
 
Long term creditors consolidated as part of the Group Financial Statements relate to debt 
issued by NEC (Developments) Plc on the London Stock Exchange.  The following long term 
creditors are brought into the Group Financial Statements upon group consolidation. 
 

 
Long-term 

 
31 March 2017 31 March 2018 

 
£m £m 

Creditors 
  

NEC 7.56% Loan Stock – maturity 30 
September 2027  

(73.0) (73.0) 

 
The fair value of the loan, as assessed by independent experts, is detailed below. 
 

Financial 
Liabilities 

Input level 
in Fair 
Value 
Hierarchy 

Valuation inputs 
and assumptions 
used to measure 
Fair Value 

31 March 2017 31 March 2018 

Carrying 
Amount 

£m 

Fair 
 Value 

 £m 

Carrying 
Amount 

£m 

Fair  
Value 

 £m 

NEC Loan Stock Level 2 

An estimate of the 
rate payable for a 
new loan on the 
same terms, based 
on published gilt 
yields. 

73.0 113.7 73.0 109.1 

TOTAL     73.0 113.7 73.0 109.1 

 
Within the Council entity accounts, the guarantee given to NEC Developments (NECD) for 
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Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 
These amounts in the Group Financial Statements are not considered materially different 
from those in the Council entity accounts. 
 
Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 
The amounts consolidated as part of the Group Financial Statements are not considered 
significantly different from the carrying amounts. 
 
Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 
The nature and extent of risks from financial instruments arising in the Group Financial 
Statements are not considered materially different from those in the Council entity accounts. 
 
 
Note G9 
Short Term Debtors 
 
The table below shows amounts owed to the Council’s Group undertakings at the end of the 
year that are due within 12 months.  These balances have been split by type of organisation.  
The detail for 2015/16 and 2016/17 has been restated to reflect the elimination of 
Birmingham Museums Trust Limited and Performances Birmingham Limited from the Group 
Accounts as set out in Note G3. 
 

31 March 2016 
(Restated) 

31 March 2017 
(Restated)  

31 March 2018 

£m £m 
 

£m 

60.2 66.4 Central government bodies 78.4 

8.2 7.2 Other local authorities 12.0 

5.0 5.1 NHS bodies 6.0 

1.7 6.7 Public corporations and trading funds 3.2 

204.2 184.6 Other entities and individuals 221.9 

279.3 270.0 Total 321.5 

 
 
 
Note G10 
Short Term Creditors  
 
The table below shows amounts owed by the Council’s Group undertakings at the end of the 
year that are due within 12 months, split by type of organisation.  The detail for 2015/16 and 
2016/17 has been restated to reflect the elimination of Birmingham Museums Trust Limited 
and Performances Birmingham Limited from the Group Accounts as set out in Note G3. 
  
 

31 March 2016 
(Restated) 

31 March 2017 
(Restated)  

31 March 2018 

£m £m 
 

£m 

(40.3) (36.3) Central government bodies (28.6) 

(5.8) (6.3) Other local authorities (11.3) 

(3.8) (3.5) NHS bodies (2.0) 

(36.2) (99.9) Public corporations and trading funds (63.7) 

(238.1) (217.5) Other entities and individuals (227.7) 

(324.2) (363.5) Total (333.3) 
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Note G12 
Unusable Reserves 
 
The following table shows the value of Group reserve balances that have come about as a 
result of accounting adjustments and are not therefore available to spend.  The detail for 
2015/16 and 2016/17 has been restated to reflect the elimination of Birmingham Museums 
Trust Limited and Performances Birmingham Limited from the Group Accounts as detailed in 
Note G3. 
 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017 
 

31 March 2018 

(Restated) (Restated)   

£m £m 
 

£m 

983.1 1,553.2 
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2016/17  
 

2017/18 

 £m 
 

£m 

983.1 Balance at 1 April 1,553.2 

  
 

 
Revaluations not posted to (Surplus)/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

 

734.6 Council: Upward revaluation of assets 592.5 

(89.6) Council: Downward revaluation of assets (197.3) 

645.0 
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Note G18 
Related Parties 
 
Details of the Council's material transactions with related parties are provided in Note 48 to 
the Council entity accounts. 
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Note G19 
Leases 
 
Group as the lessee 
 
Details of the Council’s finance and operating leases are included in Note 42 to the Council 
entity accounts. 
 
 
Group as the lessor 
 
Within the Group there are leases between Group entities and also leases from Group 
entities to external organisations. Details of the Council’s finance leases are provided in Note 
42 to the Council entity accounts.  This note sets out the impact of intra-Group leases and 
leases of Group entities to external organisations. 
 
 
Intra-Group Leases 
 
Finance leases 
 
The Council is the lessor for premises leased to Innovation Birmingham Group Limited (IBL).  
As a group subsidiary entity, these leases are eliminated from the group accounts.  The 
information in the section below provides details of the material leases with group entities, 
which are to be excluded from the disclosures provided in Note 42 to the Council entity 
accounts in deriving the group disclosures.  
 
 

31 March 2017  31 March 2018  
£m
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Income Statement 
 
The amounts recognised in PETPS’ Income Statement and consolidated into the Group 



Birmingham City Council                                                          Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

 

185 
 

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
 
  2016/17 

(Restated) 
2017/18  

  £m £m  
 Beginning of Period 157.4 184.3  
 Interest income on plan assets 5.4 4.5  
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Acivico Limited Group 
The Company’s subsidiary companies participate in the West Midlands Pension Fund, a 
Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 
The information disclosed below is in respect of the whole of the plans for which the 
Company is either the sponsoring e
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Note G21 
Adjustments between Group Accounts and Council Accounts 
 
The following adjustments are made in the Group’s Movement in Reserves Statement in 
order to reconcile the General Fund balance back to its Council position prior to funding 
basis adjustments being made.  The detail for 2016/17 has been restated to reflect the 
elimination of Birmingham Museums Trust Limited and Performances Birmingham Limited 
from the Group Accounts as detailed in Note G3. 
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Note G22 
Analysis of Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and Total 
Movement in Balance Sheet 
 
Detailed below is the analysis of Group Balance Sheet movements. 
 

2016/17   
(Restated)  

2017/18 

Council 
Minority 

Interests Total  Council 
Minority 

interests Total 

£m £m £m  £m £m £m 

127.1 - 127.1 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the 
provision of services 

34.1 - 34.1 

(6.4) - (6.4) Share of Associates (4.5) - (4.5) 

123.2 - 123.2 
Other Comprehensive 
(Income)/Expenditure 

(547.8) - (
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II. Innovation Birmingham Limited 
 
Innovation Birmingham Limited, a company limited by guarantee with the Council as sole 
member, was created with the aim of promoting, encouraging and securing the development 
and management of a science park in Birmingham.  During the 2017/18 financial year, the 
Council was entitled to appoint up to seven members of the company and five of the nine 
voting directors.  Furthermore, additional control by the Council was exercised through its 
71% share of directors’ voting rights. The Articles of Association for Innovation Birmingham 
Group prohibits the distribution of profits and, as such, dividends.   
 
The Council had made the decision to dispose of its interests in the company to a third party 
to ensure its continued development.  The company is therefore treated as an Asset Held for 
Sale in these Group financial statements.   
 
The position at the year end is detailed below.   
 
 
 2016/17 2017/18  
 £m £m  
Profit/(Loss) for the  year (0.4) (0.6)  
Net Assets/(Liabilities) at the year-end 0.1 1.8  

 
 
The year-end of the company is 31 March 2018. For the purposes of consolidation these 
accounts have been used.  There was no qualification to the audit opinion on the last 
audited accounts of this company.   
 
Information regarding transactions during the year and balances held at the year-end 
between the Council and Innovation Birmingham Limited can be found within Note 48 of the 
Council entity accounts.  The Council sold its interests in the company on 18 April 2018. 
 
 
III. Acivico Limited 
 
Acivico Limited is a registered company, which is wholly owned by the Council. The 
company was launched in April 2012, with three special purpose vehicles (SPVs): one 
holding company and two trading companies.  The two trading companies, Acivico Design 
Construction and Facilities Management Limited and Acivico (Building Consultancy) Limited, 
have been operational since April 2012 and provide a range of statutory and non-statutory 
services on behalf of and to the Council and to other public and private sector clients.  The 
Council has held the £1 issued ordinary share (100%) for the whole of the reporting period 
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VI. InReach (Birmingham) Limited 
 
The Council set up InReach (Birmingham) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, 
in 2015/16 to facilitate the development of new private rented homes for market rent at St 
Vincent Street, Ladywood.  The company has continued its building programme and it is 
expected that the first units will be available for accommodation early in the 2018/19 financial 
year.  Throughout the whole of the reporting periods considered in these financial 
statements, the Council has held 100% of the £2,000,100 share capital of the company.    
 
 
 2016/17 2017/18 
 £m £m 
Profit/(Loss) for the  year (0.1) (0.6) 
Net Assets/(Liabilities) at the year-end 1.9 12.8 

 
The year end of the company is 31 March and for the purposes of consolidation the draft 
accounts for the 12 month period ending 31 March 2018 have been used.  There was no 
qualification to the audit opinion on the last audited accounts of the group. 
 
 
 
VII. Birmingham City Propco Limited 
 
The Council set up Birmingham City Propco Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Council, i
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Note G24 
Associate and Joint Venture 
 
The associate that has been consolidated into the Group Financial Statements is listed 
below. 
 
 
I. Birmingham Airport Holdings Limited 
 
The main ordinary shareholders of Birmingham Airport Holdings Limited (BAH) are the 
seven West Midland Districts. The seven Districts together own 49% of BAH’s 324.0m 
ordinary shares of 1p each (the Council owns 18.68% that is 60.5m ordinary shares). 
48.25% ordinary shares are held by Airport Group Investments Limited which is owned by 
the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan and Victorian Funds Management Corporation and the 
remaining 2.75% shares are held by an Employee Share Trust. The Shareholders’ 
Agreement provides for the Districts to cast their 49% vote in all circumstances in one 
consolidated block. The vote of 75% of ordinary shareholders is required for certain major 
decisions of the company. 
 
The seven West Midland Districts together own all £15.4m of BAH’s 6.31% preference 
shares (the Council owns £5.9m) which are cumulative and redeemable. 
 
The BAH Group Accounts incorporate:  

 Birmingham Airport Limited; 

 Birmingham Airport Air Traffic Limited; 

 Birmingham Airport Developments Limited; 

 Birmingham Airport (Finance) Plc;  

 Birmingham Airport Operations Limited; 

 Birmingham Airport Services Limited;  

 BHX Fire and Rescue Limited; 

 BHX (Scotland) Limited; 

 BHX Limited Partnership; 

 Euro-Hub (Birmingham) Limited; and 

 First Castle Developments Limited. 
 

The principal activity of the group is the operation and management of Birmingham 
International Airport and the provision of facilities and services associated with those 
operations. 
 
The year-end of the company is 31 March 2018. For the purposes of consolidation these 
accounts have been used.  There was no qualification to the audit opinion on the last 
audited accounts of the group. 
 
BAH is accounted for as an associate for the following reasons: 
 

 The Shareholders’ Agreement provides for the Districts to cast their 49% vote in all 
circumstances in one consolidated block.  As the Council holds 18.68% within this 
49% it is considered that the Council has greater power to influence the voting of the 
block; 

 

 25% of the BAH Board of Directors (4 of 16) are Council officers or councillors. 
 
Following adjustments to the financial information to align accounting policies with those of 
the Council, in accordance with the principal of equity accounting under the Code, the 
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Annual Governance Statement 2017/18 
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2.5. The governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31 
March 2018 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts. 

 

3 The governance framework 

 

3.1. The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the Council's 
governance arrangements include the following:  

 
The Council’s vision and priorities for Birmingham 

 

3.2. The Council has been on a journey to redefine its vision and purpose in serving the 
people of Birmingham.  Creating a Council of the Future will drive the necessary 
change to deliver a new Council role and relationship with the City, its citizens and its 
partners.   

3.3. The Council’s vision for the future of Birmingham is for a city of growth, in which 
every child, citizen and place matters and to support this, the Council has set itself 
four clear priorities: 

 Children ± a great city to grow up in. To make the best of the city’s unique 
demography and create a safe and secure city for children to learn and 
grow. 

 
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the Council of 



Birmingham City Council
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3.24. The Council facilitates policy and decision–making via an Executive Structure.  There 
were ten members of Cabinet for the 2017/18 financial year: the Leader, Deputy 
Leader and eight 
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liaison with external audit and responsibility for the approval of the Annual Accounts 
and to review and make recommendations to the executive regarding the effectiveness 
of internal audit on the Council‘s arrangements for deterring, preventing, detecting and 
investigating fraud. 

  
Roles, Values and Standards of Conduct and Behaviour of Members and Officers 

 

3.31. The Constitution sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of the Cabinet and 
other Members and Officers and how these are put into practice.   

3.32. The Constitution also includes a Scheme of Delegation to Officers which sets out the 
powers of Corporate Directors.  

3.33. The Council has Codes of Conduct for both Members and Officers which set out the 
standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected and the conduct of work 
between members and officers.  In particular the Council has clear arrangements for 
declaration of interests and registering of gifts and hospitality offered and received.
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 The Strategic Director – Major Projects and Programmes left the Council at the 
end of July 2017. 
 

 The appointment of Andy Couldrick as Chief Executive of the Children’s Trust 
was announced in May 2017 and Andy formally took over his role following the 
transfer of operation responsibility from the Council to the Trust on 1 April 2018.  
 
 
 
 

Financial Management Arrangements 
 

3.37. The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance 
requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government (2016).  The role of the Chief Finance Officer (CFO)/Section 151 
Officer includes being: 

 A key member of CMT, helping it to develop and implement strategy and to 
resource and deliver the Council’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the 
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3.42. The Risk Management Policy Statement, Strategy and Toolkit are on the Council’s 
website, and advice and support is provided as requested. Updated information 
regarding the management of the risks within the Council’s Corporate Risk Register 
continues to be reported to the Audit Committee three times per year. CMT identifies 
new risks to the Council, and the draft Corporate Risk Register update is reported to 
it the month before it goes to the Audit Committee. CMT challenge the update 
information provided, and recommend re-wording or deletion of risks as appropriate. 
In addition business plans at directorate and divisional level include key risks. 

3.43. Legal requirements and Council policy, together with guidance on their 
implementation, are set out in detail in the Policies, Standards, Procedures and 
Guidance database held on the Council’s systems. Directorates maintain detailed 
delegations and guidance on specific legislative requirements which affect their 
service delivery.  

3.44. The Council has a strong Internal Audit function and well-established protocols for 
working with external audit. The Council’s external auditors have responsibilities 
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Engagement with the community and other stakeholders 
 

3.55. 
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 
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4.12. The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees received reports on key control 
issues throughout 2017/18 including an integrated assessment of Health and Social 
Care on delayed transfer of care, corporate parenting and the Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership.  

4.13. The Vision and Priorities Council Plan and organisational health targets were 
monitored through the Council Plan Measures by CMT, the Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet.  Directorate and Business Unit business plans contain a variety of 
performance indicators and targets, which are regularly reviewed.   

4.14. The 
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Issue 
No 

Governance Issue Mitigation Action / Proposed Action 

1 Safeguarding 
 
Safeguarding for both children and 
adults remains a priority.   
 
 
Work will continue to review the action 
plans in place as a result of the review 
by Commissioner Lord Warner and 
producing a robust Business Plan for 
2018/19 and future years. 
 
The Care Act 2014 sets out the legal 
requirements for adult safeguarding. 
 

 
The Council has launched an 
Improvement Plan and new operating 
model which sets out the vision, values, 
direction and shape of the service. 
 
A clear performance framework that 
provides challenge and accountability at 
all levels has been introduced. This will be 
part of the framework for the Children’s 
Trust. 
 
 
The Care Act established the requirement 
to set up an independent Safeguarding 
Board for Adults.  Arrangements are in 
place to work alongside the existing 
membership of the Birmingham Adults 
Safeguarding Board (BASB) with a view to 
ensuring that local arrangements are 
compliant with the Care Act. 
 

2 Financial Resilience 
 
The Council faces continued reducing 
resources.  This poses challenges to 
the financial resilience of the Council.   
 
Financial resilience continues to be a 
focus for the external auditors, with 
continued demands to evidence 
‘Going Concern’. The auditor noted in 
his Annual Audit Letter that there was 
considerable challenge for the 
Council to deliver its savings plans for 
2017/18 and the potential impact on 
future years’ savings plans.  
 
Given the Council is in the eighth year 
of budget reductions the possibility of 
Judicial Review challenge to the 
budget or elements of it, remains 
high. 
 
 

 
 
Proactive actions are in place to plan and 
monitor the delivery of the savings 
programme including the delivery of 
workforce savings.  These include further 
assurances on the deliverability and 
impacts of proposals and a commitment 
from the Leader to future budgeting. 
 
Governance processes have been 
reviewed and significantly enhanced to 
improve the production of implementation 
plans and monitoring of the most 
significant savings proposals at the 
highest level. 
  
 

3 Major Projects 
 
The Council is involved in a range of 
major projects which include 
partnership working arrangements 
and sometimes complex legal 

 
 
The partnership with neighbouring 
authorities through the West Midlands 
Combined Authority continues to develop.  
The next stages are vital as devolution is 







Birmingham City Council
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Glossary 
 
Academy School 
A school that chooses to opt out of Local Authority control and receive its funding from the 
Education Funding Agency directly. 
 
Accounting Policies 
The rules and practices adopted by the Council that determine how the transactions and 
events are reflected in the Accounts. 
 
Accruals 
Income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as money is 
received or paid (see Debtors and Creditors). 
 
Amortised Cost 
Some financial instruments, assets and liabilities, are carried at amortised cost, where part 
of their carrying amount in the balance sheet will be either written down or written up via the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement over the term of the instrument. 
 
Annual Governance Statement 
The annual governance statement is a statutory document that explains the process and 
procedures in place to enable the Council to carry out its functions effectively. 
 
Balance Sheet 
The Balance Sheet shows the value, as at the Balance Sheet date, of the assets, liabilities 
and other balances recognised by the Council.  
 
Balances 
The total level of funds an authority has accumulated over the years, available to support 
expenditure within the year. 
 
Beacon Properties 
In valuing the Housing Stock the Council’s properties are grouped into similar types and a 
sample from each type, known as beacon properties, are valued with the results being 
multiplied up to give a total value for each type. 
 
Business Rates 
A local tax paid by businesses to their local authority, based on the value of their premises 
as assessed by the Government Valuation Office Agency (VOA). 
 
Capital Charge 
A charge to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of non-current assets used in the 
provision of services. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset, or expenditure which adds to, and not merely 
maintains, the value of an existing fixed asset.  The Government has also enacted 
regulations which result in certain other types of spending being treated as capital 
expenditure. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
A measure of an authority’s cumulative need to borrow to finance capital expenditure, or to 
meet the costs of other long-term liabilities. 
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Capital Receipt 
Money received from the disposal of land and other non-current assets, and from the 
repayment of capital grants and loans made by the Council.  
 
Cash Flow Statement 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council 
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash 
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Deferred Capital Receipts 
These represent income that is still due following disposal of a non-current asset. 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 
Pension schemes in which the benefits received by the participants are independent of the 
contributions paid and are not directly related to the investments of the scheme. 
 
Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 
Pension schemes or other retirement benefit schemes in which the employer pays regular 
fixed contributions as an amount or as a percentage of pay and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have sufficient 
assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods.  
 
Depreciated Replacement Cost 
This is a method of valuation which provides the current cost of replacing an asset with its 
modern equivalent asset less deductions for physical deterioration and obsolescence.  
 
Depreciation 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life 
of a non-current asset. 
 
Earmarked Reserve 
A reserve which has been set aside for a specific purpose. 
 
Effective Interest Rate 
The rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument. 
 
Emoluments 
Payments received in cash and benefits for employment. 
 
Events After the Reporting Period 
Those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the balance sheet date 
and the date on which the statement of accounts is signed by the Responsible Financial 
Officer. 
 
Existing Use Value 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, disregarding 
potential alternative uses and any other characteristics of the property that would cause its 
market value to diff
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Fees and Charges 
Income arising from the provision of services, for example, the use of leisure facilities. 
 
 
Finance Lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-current 
asset to the lessee. The payments usually cover the full cost of the asset together with a 
return for the cost of finance. 
 
General Fund 
The account which records income and expenditure for all the services of the Council except 
for the Housing Revenue Account and the Collection Fund, the net costs of which is met by 
Council Tax, Business Rates and Government grants. 
 
Government Grants 
Financial assistance from Government or other external bodies as a contribution towards the 
costs of services.  Some grants may be accompanied by strict conditions relating to how the 
money can be spent, these are referred to as ring-fenced grants. 
 
Heritage Assets 
Assets that the council intends to hold for the purpose of informing or educating the public 
about their heritage and which are not held for their investment value. Examples include 
collections of antiques and art in museums. 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
A separate account detailing the expenditure and income arising from the provision of 
council housing. Local authorities are required to maintain this separately from the General 
Fund.
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Investments 
A long-term investment is an investment that is intended to be held for use on a continuing 
basis in the activities of the Council. Investments should be so classified only where an 
intention to hold the investment for the long term can clearly be demonstrated or where there 
are restrictions as to the investor’s ability to dispose of the investment. 
 
Joint Operation 
A joint operation is an arrangement where the parties that share joint control have rights to 
the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement. 
 
Joint Venture 
A joint venture is an arrangement where the parties that share joint control have rights to the 
net assets of the arrangement. 
 
Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) 
A LOBO is a type of loan instrument where borrowing is undertaken, initially at a fixed rate of 
interest. Periodically, at specific points, the lender has the option to alter the interest rate 
charged.  Should the lender exercise the option to alter the interest rate, the borrower then 
has the option to continue with the loan instrument at the new rate or alternatively to 
terminate the agreement and pay back the sum borrowed with no other penalty. 
 
Liabilities 
Amounts due to individuals or organisations, at the balance sheet date, which will have to be 
paid at some time in the future. Current liabilities are payable within one year of the balance 
sheet date. 
 
Long Term Debtors 
These debtors represent the capital income still to be received, for example on the sale of an 
asset or granting of a loan. 
 
Market Value 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper 
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion. 
 
Materiality 
An item is material if its omission, non-disclosure, or mis-statement in the financial 
statements could be expected to lead to a distortion of the view given by the financial 
statements. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Minimum Revenue Provision is a charge to the revenue account in relation to capital 
expenditure financed from borrowing or credit arrangements.  The Council is required by law 
to make an annual determination of MRP that it considers to be prudent. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) 
This Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the 
Council, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (that is, those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves.  
 
Net Book Value 
The amount at which non-current assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their 
historical cost or current value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 
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Operating Lease 
A lease other than a finance lease. 
 
Operational Assets 
Non-current assets held, occupied, used or consumed in the direct delivery of services for 
which the Council has a statutory duty or discretionary power to provide. 
 
Precept 
Amounts levied on the Council by other councils or public bodies (Police and Crime 
Commissioners, Fire and Rescue Authorities and Parish Councils), which the Council 
collects on their behalf. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments 
Those material adjustments applicable to prior years, arising from changes in accounting 
policies or from the correction of fundamental errors. They do not include normal recurring 
corrections or adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior years. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
A form of contract involving an external company providing services for a fixed period, using 
facilities that they have provided/constructed. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Tangible assets that yield benefits to the Council and the services it provides for a period of 
more than one year. Examples include land, buildings and vehicles. 
 
Provisions 
Contributions to provisions are amounts charged to the revenue account during the year for 
costs, resulting from a past event and with uncertain timing of payment and where a reliable 
estimate of the cost involved can be made. 
 
Related Parties 
There is a detailed definition of related parties in FRS8, Related Party Disclosures. For the 
Council’s purposes, related parties are deemed to include the elected Members of the 
Council and their partners; the Chief Officers of the Council and the companies in which the 
Council has an interest. 
 
Reserves 
Reserves are reported in two categories.  
 
Usable Reserves 
Usable reserves are reserves that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the 
need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for 
example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or 
repay debt).  
 
Unusable Reserves 
Unusable reserves are reserves that the Council is not able to use to provide services. This 
category includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the 
Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if 
the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations’. 
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Revenue Expenditure 
Expenditure on the day-to-day running costs of services e.g. employees, premises, supplies 
and services. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
Expenditure incurred during the year that is treated as capital expenditure under statutory 
provision but does not result in a non-current asset owned by the Council. Examples of 
these are expenditure on items such as improvement grants. 
 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
A grant formerly received from Government towards the cost of providing services.   
 
Right to Buy (RTB) Capital Receipts 
Capital receipts generated from the sale of council housing under the national scheme 
available to existing tenants.  These receipts can only be used in ways determined by the 
Government, for example to pay for further capital expenditure on council housing. 
 
Soft Loan 
Loans at nil or below prevailing interest rates are often referred to as soft loans. 
 
Top-up Grant 
Additional grant which the Government provides to reflect the difference between Business 
Rates income that the Council can generate and the amount which the Government has 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Birmingham City 

Council 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified 

We have audited the financial statements of Birmingham City Council (the ‘Council’) and its subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance 
Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Housing Revenue Account - Income and Expenditure Statement, 
the Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement, the Collection Fund Income and 
Expenditure Account, the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Group Movement 
in Reserves Statement, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement and all notes to the 
financial statements, including the Accounting Policies to the Core Financial Statements and the Group 
Accounts. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 
2017/18. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Council as at 31 March 2018 and 

of the group’s expenditure and income and the Council’s expenditure and income for the year then 
ended;
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Key Audit Matter – Group and 

Council 

How the matter was addressed in 
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Materiality 
Measure 

Group Council 

Financial statements 
as a whole 

£43.8 million, which is 1.5% of the 
Group’s gross total cost of services 
expenditure. This benchmark is 
considered the most appropriate 
because we consider users of the 
financial statements to be most 
interested in how it has expended 
its revenue and other funding. 
 
Materiality for the current year is at 
the same percentage level of gross 
total cost of services expenditure as 
we determined for the year ended 
31 March 2017, as we did not 
identify any significant changes in 
the Group or the environment in 
which it operates. 

£43.6 million, which is 1.5% of the 
Council’s gross total cost of services 
expenditure. This benchmark is 
considered the most appropriate 
because we consider users of the 
financial statements to be most 
interested in how it has expended its 
revenue and other funding. 
 
Materiality for the current year is at 
the same percentage level of gross 
total cost of services expenditure as 
we determined for the year ended 31 
March 2017, as we did not identify any 
significant changes in the Council or 
the environment in which it operates. 

Performance 
materiality used to 
drive the extent of 
our testing 

75% of financial statement 
materiality 

75% of financial statement materiality
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An overview of the scope of our audit 

Our audit approach was a risk-based approach founded on a thorough understanding of the group's 
business, its environment and risk profile and in particular included: 

 Gaining an understanding of significant changes to the Group structure; 

 Evaluation of identified components to assess the significance of each component and to determine 
the planned audit response based on measures of the materiality and significance of the component 
as a percentage of the group’s current assets, total assets, current liabilities, total liabilities, equity and 
revenues. A full scope, targeted or analytical approach was taken for each component based on their 
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We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Our opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice is unmodified 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and 
our knowledge of the Council gained through our work in relation to the Council’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published 
together with the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.  

 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if: 
we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 
we have made a written recommendation to the Council under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 
we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 30 July 2018 we made written 
recommendations to the Council in our Audit Findings Report under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in relation to the Council’s financial plans and reserve levels from 2018/19, its 
governance arrangements over financial monitoring and the Council’s Place Directorate and its oversight 
of subsidiary bodies. 

Responsibilities of the Council, the Corporate Director Finance and Governance and 

Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts set out on 
page 17, the Council is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs 
and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this 
Council, that officer is the Corporate Director, Finance & Governance. The Corporate Director, Finance 
& Governance 



http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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This matter is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for informed decision making and 
sustainable resource deployment in: 

 acting in the public interest, through demonstrating and applying the principles and values of sound 
governance; 

 managing risks effectively and maintaining a sound system of internal control; and 

 planning, organising and developing the workforce effectively to deliver strategic priorities. 
 

Management of Schools 

Significant failings in the Council's management of schools were identified in a review by Peter Clarke in 
July 2014. Since this review the Council has taken and continues to take action to improve its 
management of schools through the implementation of its improvement plan. 

As part of the assessment of schools governance improvement Birmingham Audit (internal audit) have 

been commissioned to carry out a programme of audits over a two year period. Their findings have 

continued to show that there are a range of governance issues to address across the schools visited. 

Specifically, 32 of the 87 schools audits (37%) undertaken by internal audit in 2017/18 were assessed as 

‘level 3’ assurance (specific control weaknesses of a significant nature noted, and/or the number of minor 

weaknesses noted was considerable) and two schools (2%) were assessed as ‘level 4’ assurance (controls 

eva
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Delay in certification 

of completion of the audit 

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate in accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed 
the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) Component Assurance 
statement for the Council for the year ended 31 March 2018. We are satisfied that this work does not 
have a material effect on the financial statements or on our conclusion on the Council's arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

In addition, we cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Council for the 
year ended 31 March 2018 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our consideration of an objection 
brought to our attention by a local authority elector under Section 27 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. We are satisfied that this matter does not have a material effect on the financial 
statements or on our conclusion on the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

Signature to be added 
 
 
 
 
Phil Jones 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 
 
The Colmore Building 
20 Colmore Circus 
Birmingham 
B4 6AT 
 
31 July 2018 

 


